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The Skylark Partnership  
Trustees’ Report 
 
The Trustees present their annual report together with the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report of 
The Skylark Partnership Limited ‘(the Academy Trust)’ for the period 1st  September 2019 to 31st  August 
2020.  The Annual Report serves the purposes of both a Trustees’ Report and a Directors’ Report, including 
a Strategic Report, under Company Law. The Skylark Partnership opened on 1st April 2019. 
 
The Trust operates two alternative provision schools: 
 
Hospital and Outreach Education AP Academy: this school is for pupils in the age range 4 - 18 and serves 
the whole of Northamptonshire. It also provides education for pupils outside the catchment area in the 
hospital settings in Northamptonshire.  It has a pupil capacity of 87 and had a roll of 50 in the school census 
in October 2019. 
 
Cherry Tree Learning Centre: this school is for pupils in the age range 4 - 16 years and serves the whole 
of Dudley. It has a pupil capacity of 82 and had 45 on roll at the October census 2019 (although CTLC were 
not part of the Trust at this point) 
 
Structure, Governance and Management 
 
Constitution 
 
The Academy Trust is a company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity. The Charitable Company’s 
Memorandum and Articles of Association are the primary governing documents of the Academy Trust. The 
Trustees of The Skylark Partnership Limited are also the Directors of the Charitable Company for the 
purposes of Company Law. The Charitable Company is known as The Skylark Partnership Limited. 
 
Details of Trustees who served throughout the year are included in the Reference and Administrative Details 
on page 3. 
 
Members’ Liability 
 
Each Member of the Academy Trust undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Academy Trust in the 
event of it being wound up while they are a Member, or within one year after they cease to be a Member, 
such amount as may be required, not exceeding £10, for the debts and liabilities contracted before they 
ceased to be a Member. 
 
Trustees’ Indemnities 
 
The Academy Trust has opted into the Department of Education’s Risk Protection Arrangement (‘RPA’), 
an alternative to insurance where UK government funds cover losses that arise. The scheme protects 
Members, Trustees and the Local Academy Boards from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or 
omissions occurring whilst on Academy Trust business. The scheme provides cover up to £10,000,000 
 
Method of Recruitment and Appointment or Election of Trustees 
 
Trustees are appointed by advertising through Academy Ambassadors, by virtue of their position on the 
Local Advisory Board as Chair and as a member of the Finance Committee, through local adverts and 
professional contacts.    
 
Policies and Procedures Adopted for the Induction and Training of Trustees 
 
Trustees bring a variety of experience from a number of different backgrounds in not just education, but 
also industry and commerce. Where necessary, additional training will be provided on charity, educational, 
legal, safeguarding and financial matters. All Trustees are routinely involved with meetings, reports, plans 
and other information as necessary, to enable them to carry out their roles. Assistance and advice is always 
available from Academy Trust staff or professional advisors. We are members of the National Governance 
Association, and the Confederation of Schools Trust and also use the DfE Governor Space for training 
purposes.  
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The Skylark Partnership 
Trustees’ Report (continued) 
 
Organisational Structure 
 
The organisational structure consists of a Trust Board and a Local Advisory Board at each academy.  The 
Trust Board take responsibility for all finance matters and the Local Advisory Board are responsible for 
holding the Headteachers to account for the monitoring of teaching, learning and safeguarding in their 
school. Full details can be found in the scheme of delegation on the Trust website.   
 
The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is responsible for the performance of the Trust, including teaching, 
learning and safeguarding.  
 
Arrangements for setting pay and remuneration of key management personnel 
 
The CEO’s Pay is set by the Board of Trustees, using the guidance from the DfE and benchmarking 
information available for similar settings. Headteacher salaries are set by the Local Advisory Board, in 
discussion with the Trust Board and in accordance with the group number of the school.  
 
Related Parties and other Connected Charities and Organisations 
 
The Academy Trust was established as a standalone company and does not have any external sponsors.  
 
Objectives and Activities 
 
Objectives and Aims 
 
The Academy Trust’s objectives are generally to advance for the public benefit education in the United 
Kingdom, in particular but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing by establishing, maintaining, 
carrying on, managing and developing schools offering a broad and balanced curriculum.  
 
The Trust’s vision is to create a family of exceptional nurturing environments for children and young people 
with medical and emotional needs, where each is unique and distinctive, whilst sharing the same values 
and ethos, preparing them for their next stage in life. 
 
This vision is what we aspire for and is as relatable to every employee and partner of our Trust as it is to 
our children, young adults and their families.  
 
The Skylark Partnership seeks to uphold the values and virtues of ethical education by ‘doing the right thing’ 
through honesty, integrity and transparency. We try to use the ethical leadership framework in everything 
we do.  
 
The Trust’s underlying principles 

● Our students and their families at the heart of what we do: personalised learning programmes with 
empower them to learn and achieve, to develop resilience and confidence, and to feel valued so 
that they can make progress. 
 

● Our staff and partners share our passion for achieving positive outcomes for our students; through 
providing innovative and holistic approaches to engagement and support in enabling them to realise 
their potential. 
 

● Our partnership is focussed on growth: we value and celebrate success, challenge where 
appropriate, and strive to be the best we can be. 
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The Skylark Partnership 

Trustees’ Report (continued) 
 
Objectives, Strategies and Activities 
 
The main objectives of the Academy Trust during the year are summarised below: 

1. Inspirational leadership and management 
 

● All schools have excellent financial controls and all spending decisions are scrutinized 
 

● Develop a systematic approach to inspirational leadership at all levels across all schools 
 

● Self evaluation at a Trust level will be based on evidence and reflect the high ambition for 
our pupils 

 
2. High quality teaching 

 
● The Trust will have a good understanding of the schools, both quantitatively and 

qualitatively 
 

● All schools will be involved on shared peer review both internally and externally and quality 
assurance 
 

3. Safe and happy settings 
 

● Safeguarding practices will be exemplary and compliant with statutory requirements 
 

● Pupils are encouraged to attend as many sessions as their health will allow and positive 
behaviour for learning embedded 
 

4. Supportive and nurturing staff 
 

● Appropriately trained staff with relevant knowledge and skills to be able to provide 
outstanding learning programmes for pupils with medical needs 
 

● Values based settings which respect and value all individuals involved in the Partnership’s 
communities 
 

5. Partnerships which benefit the pupil outcomes 
 

● Develop partnerships in our local areas in order to improve opportunities for learning about 
enterprise and employability in order to better prepare pupils for post 16 transitions 
 

● Develop local partnerships with health providers to ensure a ‘team around the child’ 
approach to learning programmes 
 

● We will learn from best practice, research and enquiry from other settings, schools and 
education systems in the UK and other countries. 
 

6. Opportunities to learn together 
 

● We will make best use of expertise across the partnership and participate in joint CPD 
 

● Provide opportunities to learn from each other.  
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The Skylark Partnership 

Trustees’ Report (continued) 
 
The strategies for achieving these objectives and criteria to assess progress towards objectives were: 
 

Objective Strategies Criteria for success Outcome 

All schools have 
excellent financial 
controls and all spending 
decisions are scrutinized. 

 

External finance 
expertise being used. 
Internal audit conducted 
by external partner and 
action plan in place. 
Finance committee 
meets monthly. 
Financial procedures 
manual and policies in 
place. 

Audit outcomes are 
satisfactory. 
Finance records are 
accurate and trustees are 
able to hold the CFO and 
CAO to account. 

Trust remain 
financially viable and 
ensures that funding is 
used for education of 
pupils as a priority. 

Develop a systematic 
approach to inspirational 
leadership at all levels 
across all schools. 
 

Leadership development 
plans with access to 
NPQ qualifications, peer 
mentoring, regular 
leadership meetings at 
all levels. 
Appointment of a new 
headteacher at HOE 
Succession planning for 
the CEO. 

Strong leadership in 
place at each of the 
academies and modelled 
by CEO. 
All staff aware of their 
roles and responsibilities 
and how to act as a 
leader in their area, 
Successful NPQ 
outcomes. 

Sustainable model of 
strong leadership in 
place. 
CEO and heads able 
to delegate with 
confidence. 
Career development 
opportunities explicit. 

Self evaluation at a Trust 
level will be based on 
evidence and reflect the 
high ambition for our 
pupils. 

Accurate self evaluation 
at academy level feeding 
into the Trust evaluation. 
Commercial or bespoke 
data collection methods 
in place for quantitative 
data, backed by 
qualitative data. 

Robust and accurate self 
evaluation in pace for all 
aspects of the Trust. 

Trustees have a good 
understanding of the 
Trust, its strengths 
and areas for 
development, 
Trustees able to hold 
the CEO to account 
for trust performance.  

All schools will be 
involved on shared peer 
review both internally 
and externally and 
quality assurance. 

Challenge Partners 
NAHE peer review 
NSPCC audit. 
Agreed inter-school 
reviews. 

Quality assurance of 
standards of teaching, 
learning and 
safeguarding across the 
Trust. 

Trust board have 
accurate picture of the 
effectiveness of 
teaching, learning, 
quality of curriculum 
and safeguarding 
across the Trust. 

Safeguarding practices 
will be exemplary and 
compliant with statutory 
requirements. 

External audits e.g. 
NSPCC. 
Peer reviews. 
Use of My Concern at 
school level and Clarity 
at Trust level. 

Satisfactory audit 
outcomes 
No serious incidents 
Monitoring by SG 
Governors is fed up to 
SG Trustee. 

Pupils are safe at the 
Trust and Trustees are 
confident that they are 
safe. 

Pupils are encouraged to 
attend as many sessions 
as their health will allow. 

Attendance strategies, 
dedicated staff to work 
with families and 
encourage attendance, 
reward postcards and 
other incentives. 

Attendance across the 
Trust is 80% or better. 

Pupils who attend 
more will achieve 
more - see improved 
outcomes. 
Attendance at lessons 
is an expectation of 
engagement with 
learning. 
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The Skylark Partnership  
Trustees’ Report (continued) 
 

Objective Strategies Criteria for success Outcome 

Appropriately trained 
staff with relevant 
knowledge and skills to 
be able to provide 
outstanding learning 
programs for pupils with 
medical needs. 

Subject training e.g. 
membership of NAHE, 
PiXL. 
Emotional well being and 
knowledge about health 
conditions training 
through NHS. 

Staff have up to date 
skills to provide 
outstanding educational 
programs. 

Pupil outcomes are at 
least as good as other 
similar settings. 

Values based settings 
which respect and value 
all individuals involved in 
the Partnership’s 
communities. 

VbE programs 
Core values. 
Ethical leadership 
Trust vision. 

Academies have VbE 
accreditation or are 
working towards it 
Internal audit of values. 

Trust has secure 
values and ethos 
which drives decision 
making. 

Develop partnerships in 
our local areas in order 
to improve opportunities 
for learning about 
enterprise and 
employability in order to 
better prepare pupils for 
post 16 transitions. 

Engagement with local 
enterprise advisors and 
hubs. 
Links to mainstream 
schools. 
Work experience 
programs. 
Appropriately trained 
staff. 
Use of alumni pupils. 

Pupils successfully 
transition at the end of 
their formal schooling 
period into education, 
employment or training. 

Pupils successfully 
transition at the end of 
their formal schooling 
period into education, 
employment or 
training which are 
sustained. 

Develop local 
partnerships with health 
providers to ensure a 
‘team around the child’ 
approach to learning 
programs. 

Engagements with 
hospital staff, CAMHs, 
school nurses local 
counselling services, in 
order to provide a holistic 
educational program to 
support recovery. 

Pupils make excellent 
social and emotional 
progress as well as 
academic progress and 
have a set of coping 
skills for use in the future. 

Pupils are confident 
and are able to cope 
when they leave the 
academies, in order to 
sustain their future 
placements. 

We will learn from best 
practice, research and 
enquiry from other 
settings, schools and 
education systems in the 
UK and other countries. 

Membership of research 
group at NAHE 
Subscription to key 
journals 
Visits to other settings 
Trust action research 
programs. 

Research informing 
practice. 
Change in 
systems/processes/appro
aches to maximise 
learning. 

Audits show evidence 
of best practice.  
Evidence of our own 
research. 

We will make best use of 
expertise across the 
partnership and provide 
opportunities to learn 
from each other. 

Identified leads for 
different areas across the 
trust being used to share 
best practice and support 
other. 
Peer mentoring and 
buddying in place. 

Shared expertise 
ensures that all 
academies in the trust 
are providing outstanding 
education. 
 

Trust provides 
outstanding education 
for all pupils and all 
staff. 

 

  



 
 

9 
 

The Skylark Partnership  
Trustees’ Report (continued) 
 
Public Benefit 
 
In setting the objectives and planning activities the Trustees have given careful consideration to ensuring 
compliance with the Charity Commission’s general guidance on public benefit. The activities undertaken to 
further the Academy Trust’s public benefit are: 
 
● to provide appropriate education for children and young people of compulsory school age who, by 

reason of illness may not for any period receive suitable education unless alternative provision is made 
for them. 
 

● the education may be provided in general and mental health hospital inpatient units, in outreach 
centers, in homes and in schools. 
 

● the education is provided for children and young people who are resident in Northamptonshire and 
Dudley (outreach and general hospital provision) or in the East Midlands (CAMHS settings). 
 

● requests for admissions to outreach centers are supported by evidence from a medical practitioner 
indicating that the child’s illness is preventing them from attending their home school full time.  
 

● hospital teaching takes place when a child is admitted to one of the hospital or CAMHS settings - no 
referral is required.  

 
Strategic Report 
 
Achievements and Performance 
 
Key Performance Indicators 
 
The Trust was established on 1st April 2019. Hospital and Outreach Education was the first school in the 
Trust.  Cherry Tree Learning Centre (Dudley) joined the Trust on 1st December 2019. The report below 
shows combined figures from both schools.  
 

a) Numbers of pupil referrals by school 
 
Please note these are significantly less than 2018-2019 numbers due to the shut down during the Covid-
19 peak of infections.  The schools did not take any new referrals as we could not engage with pupils who 
did not know us, nor we know them: schools were advised to provide the same educational package that 
they were offering to all of their cohort.  We were not permitting any staff to go into the general hospitals 
due to the risk of infection. In Northamptonshire at the CAMHS units, The Sett was closed to referrals for 8 
weeks and all young people treated at the Burrows. There was no community work undertaken at The 
Brambles. 
 

Hospital and 
Outreach 
Education 

Number of 
pupils 
supported 

Comments Cherry Tree 
Learning Centre 

Comments Trust 
totals 

Outreach centres 
and reintegration 
back to school 

57 Decrease of 10 47 Decrease due to 
C-19 

104 

Home tuition 0 Did not offer it 
this year 

65  65 
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The Skylark Partnership  
Trustees’ Report (continued) 
 

CAMHs Inpatients 
(Sett, Burrows & 
Brambles) 

64 Decrease of 52 n/a  64 

General hospitals 
(NGH & KGH) 

88 Decrease of 110 

27 pupils with 
multiple 
admissions 
(decrease of 10) 

Russells Hall 
Hospital 

155 

 243 

Total 209 Decrease of 172 
(predominantly 
inpatient 
contacts) 

267  476 

 
Advice and guidance to schools: -  
 
Northamptonshire - In addition, 103 schools were provided with advice and guidance to support them to 
keep their pupils maintained in the home school environment (some of this work was done as a follow out 
from the High Needs Panel) and 15 pupils were using AV1 telepresence robots to maintain their education 
whilst unwell. 
 
Dudley - 23 pupils were supported on the ‘inreach programme’ and 13 pupils used AV1 to access education 
at their home school whilst unwell. 
 
Trust total: 126 addition pupils supported and 28 cases of using AV1 
 
Other cohort information: 
 

Cohort information (%) HOE CTLC Trust totals (average 
% of overall cohort) 

Number of boys  29 44 29.26% 

Number of girls 56 47 70.74% 

Declared LGBGTQ 4 0 2% 

Free school meals 28 30 34% 

Ethnicity other than 
WHBR 1 24 15% 

Looked after children 7 0 4% 

% of children with 
Education Health and 
Care Plans 

9 11 12% 
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The Skylark Partnership  
Trustees’ Report (continued) 

b) Number of schools using the service by school category 

Hospital and Outreach Education 

General hospitals 

Type of setting Primary Secondary Special College 
or other 
post 16 

AP NEET EHE Early 
years 

Av 
length of 

stay 

NGH & KGH 
(HOE) 

Number of pupils 

19 60 19 17 1 3 0 0 NGH 4.5 

KGH 

2.3 

Russells Hall 
(CTLC) 

Number of pupils 

83 68 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 

Trust total of 
pupils taught in 
general 
hospitals 

102 128 20 17 1 3 0 0 2.9 days 

 
Please note that we are not back teaching face to face on the wards yet, due to the ongoing risk of infections. 
 
CAMHS Inpatients 
 
This is only for pupils educated through HOE. All inpatient admissions are secondary aged as they are units 
for 13-18 year olds. The Brambles, the unit for young people with eating disorders, takes all ages. 
Breakdown by school type is currently not collected. 
 

Type of setting KS2 KS3 KS4 Post 16 NEET (from 
post 16 group) 

Out of county 
pupils 

Average length of 
stay 

Number of 
pupils 

1 14 36 43 12 33 Sett: 67 

Burrows 
63:Overall: 8 

weeks 
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The Skylark Partnership  
Trustees’ Report (continued) 
 
We have been teaching at inpatients during lockdown and subsequent reopening, with staff teaching in full 
PPE. 
 
Outreach settings (centers, home tuition and reintegration back to school) 
 
Outreach Centers 
 
All pupils supported in the outreach centers were from secondary schools with 4 post 16s who were solely 
on HOE roll as they are funded for post 16 provision. Primary schools were either provided with advice and 
guidance to put in their own packages of support, provided with an AV1 or were supported through home 
tuition. 
 
You will note an increase in the length of time that pupils are dual registered with our schools, and the 
decrease in our reintegration rates. This is evidence that we are finding it increasingly difficult to encourage 
schools to take their pupils back in and the fact that we were unable to integrate any children during the 
lockdown and post lockdown period. As a consequence, we have pupils that we will need to continue to 
provide education for during this academic year, that we would normally have reintegrated back by the end 
of last academic year. 
 

Year group 7 8 9 10 11 Post 16 Average length of 
support (weeks) 

HOE 

Number of pupils 

2 7 8 12 24 4 29 

CTLC 

Number of pupils 

8 11 15 13 3 0 92 

Trust total 10 18 23 25 27 4 121 

 Home tuition (CTLC only) 

Year group Early 
years 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

Number of 
pupils 

0 0 0 1 2 0 1 1 8 9 6 8 
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The Skylark Partnership  
Trustees’ Report (continued) 
 
Reintegration to school 
 

Academy % of cohort reintegrated back to school 

HOE 19 

CTLC 30 

Trust average 24.5 
 

c) Achievement data 
 
Personal, social and emotional progress 
 
Our pupils make outstanding personal, social and emotional progress from their starting points. Most of 
them have not been in school and have missed significant amounts of their previous schooling: they are 
anxious and disengaged with their learning, believing that they cannot achieve anything with their lives. 
Pupils are referred to us from school, and some come to us directly after an inpatient admission.  
 
All of them improve on their attendance from starting points.  Parents report improved moods and attitudes 
at home, of optimism for the future, of improved self belief and self confidence and they feel proud of what 
their child has achieved.  
 
During the Covid-19 shutdown period, pupils were supported with daily face to face teaching and mentoring 
sessions, use of the Google classroom and supported phone calls where necessary, as for some of our 
pupils, this was particularly challenging. As a consequence of the unprecedented situation, we did not 
collect any personal development scale data this year that we can report on but we did participate in a 
national survey and about how staff, pupils and parents felt that we had supported them during the lockdown 
period, which was overwhelmingly positive.  
 
The Trust’s core values have contributed to this improvement and compliments our programs of PSHE and 
staff support that is in place. This year, Hospital and Outreach Education were successful in achieving the 
Values based Education accreditation and staff from here will be supporting CTLC in seeking their 
accreditation. 
 
GCSE results 
 
As you are aware, this year there were no GCSE exams taken but staff submitted Centre Assessment 
Grades (CAGs) which we considered what we thought pupils would attain if they actually took the exam. 
This was based on their work in class, mock exam, and assessment results. The exam regulator Ofqual 
also applied an algorithm that meant that some grades were elevated. However, you can see, they were in 
line with previous years. This year’s results will not be counted in any data returns.  
 

Academy No of 
students who 
took GCSEs 

% gained 5 or 
more 9 - 4 

grades 

% gained 5 or 
more 9 - 4 incl 

maths & 
English 

% gained 5 or 
more 9 - 1 

% gained 5 or 
more 9 -1 
including 
maths & 
English 

% gained at 
least 1 GCSE 

NHOE 21 48 43 76 71 100 

CTLC 20 50 50 85 85 100 

 
CTLC also has a part time flexible group of year 11s which Dudley Local Authority took off roll with no 
consultation, all of whom gained at least one GCSE and some of them up to 5. 
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The Skylark Partnership  
Trustees’ Report (continued) 
 
Most importantly, all of our students have destinations ready for September and we will be supporting them 
to enable them to attend. 
 
Although our GCSE outcomes will not be used this year, we will continue to benchmark with other 
colleagues across our national networks so we can continue to learn and refine our systems and processes.   
 
AV1 has continued to enable pupils to remain connected to their home schools and continued to make 
reintegration back following an absence much smoother. It has also meant that the schools have taken on 
full responsibility for provision of education, rather than it being outsourced to the Trust’s schools. This is 
not only most cost effective, but also more beneficial to the pupil longer term.  HOE was awarded the 
University of Northampton Changemaker Award for innovative use of IT and the project has also been 
shortlisted for the NASEN and TES Awards this year.  
 
All our leavers this year were not engaged in education at the start of the academic year. All of them 
improved their attendance and enjoyed coming into the centers, although it has not always been easy for 
them. They all chose to have ‘leavers hoodies’ this year as they were proud of where they went to school 
and their own achievements. 
 
Attendance data 
 
Attendance data is normally collected over the entire academic year: this year, inline with DfE 
recommendations, we paused collection when we went into lockdown and as attendance was not statutory 
when we reopened in June, we have only just started to collect the information again. This data is for the 7 
months prior to lockdown 
 

Academy % average attendance Month of highest 
attendance & % 

Month of lowest 
attendance & % 

HOE 72.4 Sept 19 - 76 Nov 19 - 68 

CTLC 77 Feb 20 - 80 March 20 - 71 

Trust total  74.7 78 69.5 

 
Transition / destination data 
 
Pupils are tracked back to school following an inpatient admission to our general hospitals. All of them 
returned to school last year, hence the 100% score. 
 
Pupils transitioning out of the inpatient units have a variety of destinations including return to school or 
college, transfer to another CAMHS inpatient hospital (usually secure), move back out of county, and 
opting to become electively home educated. 
 
Year 11 pupils are supported to move onto college, apprenticeships, employment and school 6th forms.  
 
At HOE only, some pupils stay on roll for an additional year.  
 
This year, due to the Covid-19 situation, the DfE released some finance for ‘transition funding’ for our 
sector: we will be able to claim this in the next financial year but the schools have used it for: 
 

● providing summer learning programs 
● keeping in touch over the summer and during the autumn term  
● visits to transition placements 
● mentoring support 
● support to access transport to get to post 16 destinations.  
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The Skylark Partnership  
Trustees’ Report (continued) 
 

Setting Hospitals CAMHS units Year 11s. 

HOE 100% of admissions 84% of pupils 100% 

CTLC 100% of admissions n/a 100% 

Trust total (average) 100% of admissions 84% 100% 

 
Finance KPIs 
 
CTLC only joined the Trust in December 2019. 
 

KPI Trust National Average (mainstream) 

% of total income spent on 
salaries 

82.9% 71.0% 

% of total income spent on 
supply (including online 
provision) 

0.8% 4.8% 

% total income spent on 
curriculum 

3.1% 6.4% 

Average income from charging 
per pupil 

£118,281 
(HOE only as CTLC did not 

charge – £2628 per HOE pupil 

Not available 

 
HR KPIs 
 
          From Sept 19 - July 20 (end of term) 
 

 HOE CTLC Trust 

No of occasions of sickness 
/absence 

273 47 320 

No of days lost to sickness /absence 122 148 270 

No of staff with more than 3 
occasions of sickness /absence 
in a 12 week period 

1 1 2 

Most common causes of sickness 
/absence 
 

Stomach upset 
Appointments 

 

Stress due to ill 
partner 

Stomach upset 

No of occasions of ‘other absence’  63 44 107 

No of days lost to ‘other absence’  40 24 64 

No of staff with more than 3 
occasions of ‘other absence’  
in a 12 week period 

1 1 2 

Most common causes of ‘other 
absence’  

Special leave / 
appointments  

Special leave / 
appointments 

Special leave / 
appointments 
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The Skylark Partnership  
Trustees’ Report (continued) 
 
Facilities KPIs 
 

 HOE CTLC Trust 

No of health and safety issues raised 1 0 1 

No of reported accidents 1 1 2 

No of outstanding health and safety 
issues to be resolved.  

0 0 0 

 
Going Concern 
 
After making appropriate enquiries, the Board of Trustees has a reasonable expectation that the Academy 
Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this 
reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Financial Statements. Further details 
regarding the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the Statement of Accounting Policies. 
 
Financial Review 
 
Financial Performance 
 
Most of the Trust’s income is obtained from Local Authorities in the form of special needs grants with a 
smaller percentage received from the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) in the form of place 
funding, the use of which is restricted.  The grants received from the ESFA during the year ended 31st 
August 2020 of £969,658 and the associated expenditure of £814,317 are shown as restricted funds in the 
Statement of Financial Activities. 
 
On 1 December 2019, Cherry Tree Learning Centre joined the trust. The school brought with it surplus 
funds of £97,264 which have been added to unrestricted reserves. 
 
General revenue funds for the trust increased in the year by £245,599 to £572,497 at 31 August 2020. 
 
Total funds at the period end were £2,434,866 of which £3,028,369 related to fixed assets less £1,166,000 
relating to the pension reserve deficit. 
 
Reserves Policy 
 
The current reserves policy is for reserves to be at least 12% of the annual income of the Trust. The amount 
of operating reserves held by the Academy Trust at 31st August 2020 is £572,497, which represents 18.9% 
of annual income. These are held for the following purpose: 
 

● to provide contribution to capital bids to the ESFA through the CIF application process; 
 

● to update existing facilities for projects that did not meet the criteria for a successful CIF bid; 
 

● emergencies with facilities e.g. new boiler; 
 

● to provide the resources and infrastructure in order to be able to deliver an online teaching and 
learning solution for pupils who cannot access education in our centers, who are shielding, and for 
all pupils in the case of a national or local lockdown due to Covid-19.  

 
This is outlined in the Reserves Policy. 
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Investment Policy 
 
The Trust does not currently have any investments. 
 
Academy Trustees will ensure that investment risk is properly managed. When considering whether to 
make an investment, Trustees will: 
 

● Act within their powers to invest, as set out in our Articles of Association; 
 

● Exercise caution in all investments, reducing risk and ensuring that the Trust acts with the utmost 
integrity; 
 

● Take investment advice from a professional adviser, as appropriate; 
 

● Ensure that exposure to investment products is tightly controlled so that security of funds takes 
precedence over revenue maximization; 
 

● Ensure that all investment decisions are in the best interests of the Trust and command broad 
public support. 

 
Trustees will seek prior approval from the Education and Skills Funding Agency for investment transactions 
that are novel or contentious. 
 
We only invest funds in low risk and easily-accessible accounts. Funds will be placed in bank accounts with 
a withdrawal notice of no more than 12 weeks. 
 
Risk is managed through diversification of investments, ensuring that the security of funds takes 
precedence over revenue maximization. 
 
Funds will only be placed with banking institutions that are regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority 
and with good credit ratings. 
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
 
The Trust has a risk register which is reviewed monthly. Key areas of risk currently are outlined below:  
 

Summary of risk and uncertainties Plans & strategies to manage risks 

Risks to providing a supportive, inclusive, challenging 
environment with enriching experiences that enable 
pupils to fulfil their potential 

Proactively working with schools to ensure they continue to 
refer despite having remote capabilities in place, monitoring 
of staff capacity and workload, planned maintenance work 
and associated health and safety issues, CIF bids, working 
with unions agreement, positive media releases and 
nominations for national awards.  

Risks to achieving continuous improvement in quality 
and standards throughout the school. 

Working with schools to gain rapid access to data, pupil 
tracking, 6 weekly reviews, external peer reviews, Blended 
learning strategy to include provision of ICT hardware and 
systems, sustainability, connectivity and replacement plans 

Risks to sustaining a culture in which staff are valued 
and provided with an effective programme of 
continuous professional development. 

Policy and agreement for working with unions, staff wellbeing 
strategy, values based education, full CPD programme 
related to individual staff skills and team improvement 
priorities.  

Risks to working with partners to improve and extend 
learning opportunities and to contribute (at local, 
regional and national level) to the promotion of 
outstanding learning.  

Positive media releases, staff working collaboratively with 
partners as part of working practices and procedures, regular 
meetings with key stakeholders, national work through APIF 
project and NAHE and as NLE and national support school. 
Membership of schools forum (for funding) 
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Risks to adapting and developing provision, taking full 
advantage of technology, for a changing society. 

External IT support and peer review, staff provided with up to 
date equipment and training in how to use it, purchase of 
relevant software, use of IT technician who has developed 
the systems, use of ‘spiceworks’ tickets to raise issues, 
connectivity at all of the centres for delivering blended 
learning 

Risks to achieving and maintaining a robust financial 
status. 
Highest risk area due to overspends in both LAs High 
Needs Budgets And both LAs being in special 
measures 

Use of external expertise for CFO, regular training of SBMs, 
monitoring meetings run by CFO, anti fraud policy, internal 
audit process, Finance Procedures Manual, CAO monitoring, 
monthly management reports and forecasts, use of Xero 
accounting software, regular meeting with DfE and LAs 
regarding funding for the following year, clear segregation of 
duties, awareness of deficits in pensions and possible 
contribution changes with clear plans to manage this 
situation. 

Risks to ensuring that students are kept safe External audits, use of My Concern ‘Clarity’ for trusts, section 
175 audits, policies, practices, staff handbooks and codes of 
conduct, SG trustee and governors monitoring and reporting 
to trust board, single central register, DSL and staff training 
records,  

Other 
● NCC move to 2 unitary authorities 
● Covid-19 situation 

● still uncertainty about the impact of move to 2 
unitary authorities on the funding stream for HOE 

● loss of pupil learning, increased costs for resources, 
lack of IT infrastructure to deliver blended learning, 
impact on staff wellbeing, possibility of increased 
safeguarding concerns 

 
The impact of the Covid 19 pandemic on The Skylark Partnership 
 
Health and Safety  
 
The Trust and the academies within it have responded positively to Covid 19 pandemic and acted swiftly 
and effectively to keep our staff, pupils and other stakeholders safe and engaged with education.  
 
Effective risk assessments were developed with staff using DfE and Public Health guidance. These were 
shared with unions, parents, pupils and other schools and are continually reviewed and changed as we find 
out more about the virus and as guidance is updated. Films were made of the safety measures that were 
put in place prior to pupils and staff returning to sites, and shared with them so that they could see.  
 
All were invited in for individual walk rounds and so that they could ask questions. Individual risk 
assessments were conducted for all staff and for pupils with additional health needs. A national survey 
conducted of how we had dealt with the lockdown showed that pupils, parents and staff felt safe in the 
centres.  
 
Move to remote education  
 
Academies in the trust were able to move agilely onto remote delivery of the curriculum through the use of 
G Suite for Education. Hospital and Outreach Education (HOE) used Google Meet to deliver live lessons, 
and Cherry Tree Learning Centre (CTLC) made use of Google classroom and phone calls. The survey (see 
above) showed that pupils, parents and staff appreciated the regular contact and support for education 
during the lockdown period. Regular reviews and consultations were held with staff to refine systems and 
both academies now have a ‘blended learning’ strategy with CTLC starting to deliver live lessons. They 
have also now all received their chromebooks and external providers have been engaged to provide a 
comprehensive training programme for all staff to improve their confidence and skills moving forward. 
 
Robust risk assessments were put in place to ensure that pupils were safe whilst at home and that staff 
were safe whilst delivering remote lessons and engaging with families. 
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The AV1 robots are being used across the trust particularly for children who are continuing to shield or who 
are spending long periods of time in hospital. The trust was delighted that the work of HOE was recognised 
in the TES Awards, being awarded the ‘Innovative use of IT’ award. 
 
Financial impact  
 
As the Trust has a healthy reserves balance, the financial sustainability and consideration of going concern 
has not provided a challenge. We have not been able to charge schools as usual as pupils have taught 
remotely and the trustees took the decision not to charge once we reopened in June. This has resulted in 
a loss of some revenue but this has not had a significant impact as this has been offset by savings in staff 
travel costs and resources for operating the centres.  The reserves have continued to show a healthy 
balance, and funds for capital projects and investments into ICT are continuing and have not been 
impacted. 
 
Due to the reserves the trust has, we are not eligible to claim any of our Covid additional spending back 
from the DfE. The trustees agreed to fund the free school meals until systems were put in place, and also 
provided for pupils whose economic situations had changed during the period of the pandemic, but who 
were not eligible. The trust also topped up the amount so that each family received vouchers for £25 per 
week. This was extremely well received and fits with the values of the trust. The trust intends to do the 
same over the Christmas period. 
  
The finance trustees have continued to meet remotely every month and covid costs have been reviewed 
regularly to ensure that they are appropriately managed and monitored. At this time there are not any 
implications for any existing or potential defined benefit pension liability and the trust does not currently 
hold any investments on which there would be an impact.  
 
The risks to the trust continue to be monitored monthly and have not escalated due to the current situation. 
  
Impact on staff, pupils, parents and stakeholders  
 
As you may have expected, there has been high levels of anxiety throughout all stakeholders.  
 
Staff who were concerned were permitted to work remotely for the duration of the summer term and until 
we had clearer updated advice for reopening in August. Some staff are still required to shield but continue 
to work and contribute from home. Regular meetings, one to ones, and encouraging open and frank 
communication have been established. All staff are now part of a staff wellbeing scheme called ‘Perkbox’ 
which gives them various benefits, access to online exercise classes and access to a doctor for medical 
appointments. Staff wellbeing has been a priority for the trust, so whilst delivering remotely all staff finished 
at 3pm and they were encouraged to do activities for themselves or with their families. Since September, 
all monitoring of teaching and learning has been ‘paused’ to alleviate additional stress, and leaders have 
been involved with the development of a staff wellbeing charter. Feedback from staff has been positive. 
People are now working in bubbles with no staff travel to minimise the risk of transmission and having to 
close all centres. Staff teaching at the inpatients are in full PPE.  
 
Pupils have generally welcomed the opportunity to return to the centres. Individual appointments were 
made for visits for pupils and their parents so that they could review arrangements and ask questions. 
Pupils who are required to shield or self isolate are being offered live lessons and can join lessons in the 
centre. This means that when they are ready to come into the centre, they are familiar with their peers and 
teachers. Home tuition is going on for those pupils who need it. This is carefully risk assessed with the 
parents.  
 
Parents have appreciated the regular contact, the quick responses to queries and being involved in their 
child’s education. The evaluation report was very favourable with parents reporting a high degree of 
satisfaction.  
 
Other stakeholders have agreed to abide by our measures that are in place to keep people safe. All visits 
are pre arranged and risk assessed, and remote meetings are being used where possible.  
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Impact on pupil attainment  
 
As our cohorts are mainly year 11s, teaching staff participated in the robust process of assigning centre 
assessed grades for GCSEs. As our pupils are all anxious, and therefore do not always perform as well as 
they should in exams, this process was advantageous to our cohorts: GCSE results were at least on par 
and some above, previous years results.  
 
Pupil engaged differently with the remote offer, with some loving it and others hating it. Staff were mindful 
not to put additional pressure on at a stressful time, nor to upset the atmosphere within the home. There 
was inevitably some loss of learning but additional catch up lessons, small classes and extra staffing 
support are going towards addressing those gaps. 
 
Strategic impact on the Trust’s operations  
 
Trust meetings and Local Advisory Board (LAB) meetings have continued remotely. LABs have monitored 
local situations and have met monthly to keep abreast of developments: they have then reported to the full 
trust board: additional trust meetings have also been put in place. Resources from the National Governance 
Association and the Confederation of Schools Trusts have been used to develop decision making grids and 
risk assessments. 
 
Strategic development of the Trust has been paused as the CEO is currently the Headteacher of one of the 
academies and has had to focus on operational day to day responsibilities of running a school. The priorities 
have been updated and a full SWOT analysis conducted as to our growth plan with careful consideration 
of updates from RSC and DfE about current academy conversion landscapes.  
 
Fundraising 
 
The Trust does not engage in any fundraising practices at present. Pupils raise money for charities 
individually at each school e.g. World Mental Health Day, Jeans for Genes, Children in Need.  
 
Plans for Future Periods 
 
Key objectives for 2020 - 2021: 
 

● to increase the security at the outreach centers at HOE through application for CIF bid. 
 

● to develop robust monitoring and reporting systems across the Trust for finance, teaching and 
learning, SEND and safeguarding. 
 

● to develop systems to share expertise across the Trust. 
 

● to develop a sustainable blended learning strategy to be able to manage any further pandemic 
situations in the immediate situation and in the future. 
 

● to plan for succession of CEO position. 
 

● to investigate a Trust wide HR support package. 
 
Funds Held as Custodian Trustee on Behalf of Others 
 
The Academy Trust does not hold such funds and does not act as the custodian trustee of any other charity. 
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Disclosure of Information to Auditors  
 
In so far as the Trustees are aware: 
 

● there is no relevant audit information of which the Academy Trust’s Auditor is unaware; and 
 

● the Trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Auditor is aware of that information. 

 
The Trustees would like to propose that Cooper Parry be reappointed as the auditors for The Skylark 
Partnership for 2020 - 2021.  
 
This report, incorporating a Strategic Report, was approved by order of the Board of Trustees on 20th 
January 2021 and signed on their behalf by: 
   
 

 
 
Frances Jones 
Chair of Board of Trustees  
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Scope of Responsibility 
 
As Trustees we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that the Academy Trust has an 
effective and appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. However, such a system is designed 
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.  
 
As Trustees, we have reviewed and taken account of the guidance in DfE’s Governance Handbook and 
Competency Framework for Governance. 
 
The Board of Trustees has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the CEO, as Accounting Officer, for 
ensuring financial controls conform with the requirements of both propriety and good financial management 
and in accordance with the requirements and responsibilities assigned to it in the funding agreement 
between the Academy Trust and the Secretary of State for Education. The CEO is also responsible for 
reporting to the Board of Trustees any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control. 
 
Governance 
 
The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Trustees’ Report and in 
the Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities. The Board of Trustees has formally met five times between 
September 2019 and August 2020, while the Finance Committee has met ten times during the same period. 
 
Although the Board of Trustees met less than six times in the year, the Finance Committee meetings 
provided the oversight that the Trustees required. 
 
Attendance during the year at meetings of the Board of Trustees was as follows: 
 
Director  Meetings 

attended 
 

Eligible Meetings  
 
F Jones (Chair) 
G Goss 
P Spall 
J Brown 
E Gray 
N Marzec 
D Turner 
S Hayward 
In attendance - C Kitchen (Accounting Officer and CEO) 

 
4 

            5 
            3 
            3 
            5 
            0 
            2 
            0 
            5 

 
5 
5 
5 
5 
5 
5 
5 
2 
5 

 
All Board Members have completed online training through the Governor Space portal on the role of a 
Trustee. All Trustees completed an updated assessment of skills using the NGA audit in order to look at 
skills gaps on the Board. The Board have been focused on developing how to monitor the effectiveness of 
the Trust across different settings which will be further developed in this academic year. 
 
The Board have been learning about how AP Academies cannot present performance data in the same 
way as schools, cannot effectively benchmark with other AP settings (e.g. DfE data is for singly registered 
pupils only and most of Trust pupils are dual registered with their home schools). The Board have been 
considering what would be the most effective key performance indicators for the Trust, particularly in the 
area of teaching and learning. There is a newly formed teaching and learning committee at the Trust. 
 
Challenges for the Board include the difficulty of working with two failing local authorities, both of which are 
in special measures and have huge overspends in their high needs budgets which makes negotiating 
realistic service level agreements and funding very difficult, dealing with the additional expenditure  for the 
Covid-19 situation, high level of risks for taking on any additional medical APs into the Trust during this 
period of funding uncertainty, and the outcomes of the SEND review and AP reforms. 
 
Governance Review 
 
We have planned a governance review for this term (it would have been due April 2020 but was delayed 
due to C-19). All Trustees have updated their skills audit (based on NGA document).  
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The Finance Committee is a sub-committee of the main Board of Trustees.  Its purpose is to hold the 
Board of Trustees to account for their financial statements, budgeting and value for money and to monitor, 
review and evaluate financial propriety. This Committee has met monthly in order to keep abreast of every 
changing financial situations, and they have been supported by Mike Giddings and Hayley Clarke from 
MLG Education Services and Sue Valentine-Swallow, CFO for the Trust. 
 
Attendance during the year at meetings was as follows 
 

Director Meetings 
Attended 

Out of a Possible 

            
G Goss 
P Spall 
D Turner                                                        

 
10 
5 
5 

 
10 
10 
10 

 
This committee also acts as the Academy Trust's Audit Committee, where its purpose is to maintain an 
oversight of the Trust’s governance, risk management, internal control and value for money framework. 
 
Review of Value for Money 
 
As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for ensuring that The Skylark 
Partnership delivers good value in the use of public resources.  The Accounting Officer understands that 
value for money refers to the educational and wider societal outcomes achieved in return for the taxpayer 
resources received. 
 
The Accounting Officer considers how the Trust’s use of its resources has provided good value for money 
during each academic year, and reports to the Board of Trustees where value for money can be improved, 
including the use of benchmarking data where available.  The Accounting Officer for the Academy Trust 
has delivered value for money during the year by: 
 

● use of G Suite for Education to deliver blended learning options 
 

● employment of Trust IT technician 
 

● future focus of VFM 
 

● review of all contracts 
 

● successful application for CIF bids (and one awaiting appeal) 
 

● application for grants from various sources to fund an outdoor classroom and vegetable garden 
 

● use of grants from DfE for transition fund and catch up funding 
 
The Purpose of the System of Internal Control 
 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all 
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process 
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Academy Trust policies, aims and 
objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.  
 
The system of internal control has been in place in The Skylark Partnership for the period 1 September 
2019 to 31 August 2020 and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements.  
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Capacity to Handle Risk 
 
The Board of Trustees has reviewed the key risks to which the Academy Trust is exposed together with the 
operating, financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The Board 
of Trustees is of the view that there is a formal on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the Academy Trust's significant risks that has been in place for the period 1 September 2019 to 31 August 
2020 and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. This process is 
regularly reviewed by the Board of Trustees. 
 
The Risk and Control Framework 
 
The Academy Trust’s system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management 
information and administrative procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation 
and accountability. In particular, it includes: 
 
• comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial 

reports which are reviewed and agreed by the Board of Trustees 
•  
• regular reviews by the Finance Committee of reports which indicate financial performance against 

the forecasts and of major purchase plans, capital works and expenditure programmes 
 

• setting targets to measure financial and other performance 
 
• clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines 

 
• delegation of authority and segregation of duties 

 
• identification and management of risks 

 
The Board of Trustees has considered the need for a specific internal audit function and has decided to 
appoint Cooper Parry Group Limited. Cooper Parry Group Limited are also the Trust’s external auditor and 
this work was commissioned prior to the change in ethical standards which now prohibits the same firm 
providing internal and external audit services. 
 
The internal auditor's role includes giving advice on financial matters and performing a range of checks on 
the Academy Trust's financial systems. In particular, the checks carried out in the current period included: 
 
● testing of procurement systems 
● testing of income systems 
● testing of expenditure systems 
 
Cooper Parry Group Limited, acting as internal reviewer for the year, reported to the Board of Trustees 
through the Finance Committee on the operation of the systems of control and on the discharge of the 
Board of Trustees' financial responsibilities. 
 
On an annual basis, the auditor reports to the Board of Trustees, through the Finance Committee on the 
operation of the systems of control and on the discharge of the Board of Trustees’ financial responsibilities.  
One internal audit has been completed during the period January 2020 - August 2020, and any issues 
identified have been rectified.  
 
As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control. During the period of the year in question the review has been informed by:  
 

● the work of internal auditor/reviewer; 
● the support and advice from MLG Education services; 
● work of external auditors; 
● the financial management and governance self-assessment process, including the School 

Resource Management Self-Assessment Tool; 
● the work of the Chief Finance Officer who has responsibility for the development and maintenance 

of the internal control framework. 
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The Accounting Officer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of the system of 
internal control by the Finance Committee and plans to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the systems is in place. 
 
Approved by order of the Board of Trustees on 20th January 2021 and signed on its behalf by: 
 

                                                                    
      
Frances Jones      Cath Kitchen 
Chair of Board of Trustees    Accounting Officer   
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Statement of Regularity, Propriety and Compliance 
 
As Accounting Officer of the Academy Trust, I have considered my responsibility to notify the Academy 
Trust Board of Trustees and the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) of material irregularity, 
impropriety and non-compliance with terms and conditions of all funding received by the Academy Trust, 
under the funding agreement in place between the Academy Trust and the Secretary of State for Education.  
As part of my consideration I have had due regard to the requirements of the Academies Financial 
Handbook 2019. 
 
I confirm that I, and the Academy Trust Board of Trustees, are able to identify any material irregular or 
improper use of all funds by the Academy Trust, or material non-compliance with the terms and conditions 
of funding under the Academy Trust’s funding agreement and the Academies Financial Handbook 2019. 
 
I confirm that no instances of material irregular, impropriety or funding non-compliance have been 
discovered to date. If any instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to 
the Board of Trustees and ESFA. 
 

 
 
Cath Kitchen 
Accounting Officer 
 
20th January 2021 
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The Trustees (who are the Directors of the Charitable Company for the purposes of company law) are 
responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Report and the Financial Statements in accordance with the Annual 
Accounts Direction issued by the Education and Skills Funding Agency, United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and applicable law and regulations. 
 
Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year.  Under company 
law the Trustees must not approve the financial statements, unless they are satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Charitable Company and of its incoming resources and application 
of resources, including its income and expenditure, for that period. In preparing these financial statements, 
the Trustees are required to: 
 

● select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
● observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2019 and Academy Accounts Direction 

2019  to 2020; 
● make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
● state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 
● prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 

that the Charitable Company will continue in business. 
 

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient, to show and 
explain the Charitable Company transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any time the 
financial position of the Charitable Company and enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements 
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
Charitable Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities. 
 
The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the Charitable Company applies 
financial and other controls, which conform to the requirements, both of propriety and of good financial 
management. They are also responsible for ensuring grants received from the ESFA/DfE have been applied 
for the purposes intended. 
 
The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the Charitable Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
 
Approved by order of the Board of Trustees on 20th January 2021 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 

 
 
Frances Jones 
Chair of Board of Trustees 
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Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of The Skylark Partnership (the 'Academy Trust') for the year 
ended 31 August 2020 which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the 
Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law, United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland', 
the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020 issued by the Education & 
Skills Funding Agency. 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 
 
● give a true and fair view of the state of the Academy Trust's affairs as at 31 August 2020 and of its 

incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure for the year 
then ended; 

 
● have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice; and 
 
● have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities 

SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020 issued by the Education & Skills 
Funding Agency. 

 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Academy Trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the United Kingdom, including the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us 
to report to you where: 
 
● the Trustees' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 

statements is not appropriate; or 
 
● the Trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that 

may cast significant doubt about the Academy Trust's ability to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue. 
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Other information 

 
The Trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual report, other than the financial statements and our Auditor's report thereon. Other 
information includes the Reference and administrative details, the Trustees' report including the Strategic 
Report, and the Governance Statement. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we 
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the 
other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

  
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 
● the information given in the Trustees' report including the Strategic report for the financial year for 

which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 
 
● the Trustees' report and the Strategic report have been prepared in accordance with applicable 

legal requirements. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

 
In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the Academy Trust and its environment obtained in 
the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees ' report including 
the Strategic report. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 
● adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 

received from branches not visited by us; or 
 

● the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 
 

● certain disclosures of Trustees’  remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
 

● we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
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The Skylark Partnership 
Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements to the 
Members of The Skylark Partnership (continued) 
 
Responsibilities of trustees 

 
As explained more fully in the Trustees' Responsibility Statement, the Trustees (who are also the Directors 
of the Academy Trust for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Academy Trust's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the Academy 
Trust or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

  
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 
part of our Auditor's report. 

 
Use of our report 

  
This report is made solely to the Academy Trust's Members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Academy Trust's Members those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditor's report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Academy Trust and its Members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Simon Atkins FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

   
for and on behalf of 
Cooper Parry Group Limited 
  
Chartered Accountants 
Statutory Auditor 
One Central Boulevard 
Blythe Valley Park  
Solihull 
West Midlands 
B90 8BG 
  
 
25th January 2021  
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The Skylark Partnership  
Independent Reporting Accountant’s Assurance Report on Regularity 
to The Skylark Partnership and the Education Skills Funding Agency 
 
In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 26 September 2019 and further to the 
requirements of the Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) as included in the Academies Accounts 
Direction 2019 to 2020, we have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether the 
expenditure disbursed and income received by Academy Trust during the year 1 September 2019 to 31 
August 2020 have been applied to the purposes identified by Parliament and the financial transactions 
conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
This report is made solely to Academy Trust and the ESFA in accordance with the terms of our engagement 
letter. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to Academy Trust and ESFA those matters we 
are required to state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than Academy Trust and ESFA, for our work, for this report, 
or for the conclusion we have formed. 
 
Respective responsibilities of Academy Trust's accounting officer and the reporting accountant 
 
The Accounting Officer is responsible, under the requirements of Academy Trust's funding agreement with 
the Secretary of State for Education dated 25 May 2011 and the Academies Financial Handbook, extant 
from 1 September 2019, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income received is applied for the 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern 
them. 
 
Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession's ethical 
guidance and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the 
requirements of the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020. We report to you whether anything has 
come to our attention in carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure 
disbursed and income received during the year 1 September 2019 to 31 August 2020 have not been applied 
to purposes intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 
 
Approach 
 
We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction 2018 to 2019 issued 
by ESFA. We performed a limited assurance engagement as defined in our engagement letter. 
 
The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information 
and explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion 
on regularity. A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance 
engagement and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all 
significant matters that might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not 
express a positive opinion. 
 
Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety 
of the Academy Trust's income and expenditure. The work undertaken to draw our conclusions included: 

 
● Reviewing the internal control policies and procedures implemented by the Academy Trust and 

evaluating their design and effectiveness to understand how the Academy Trust has complied with the 
framework of authorities;  
 

● Reviewing the minutes of meetings of the Trustees, relevant sub-committees and other evidence made 
available to us, relevant to our consideration of regularity;  
 

● Enquiries of the Accounting Officer, including reviewing the work undertaken by the Accounting Officer 
in relation to their Statement on Regularity, Propriety and Compliance; and  

 
● Detailed testing of the income and expenditure of the Academy Trust based on our assessment of the 

risk of material irregularity, impropriety and non-compliance. This work was integrated with our audit of 
the financial statements where appropriate and included analytical review and detailed substantive 
testing of transactions. 
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The Skylark Partnership 
Independent Reporting Accountant’s Assurance Report on Regularity 
to The Skylark Partnership and the Education Skills Funding Agency 
 
Conclusion 
 
In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggest in all material respects the 
expenditure disbursed and income received during the year 1 September 2019 to 31 August 2020 has not 
been applied to purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the 
authorities which govern them. 
 
 
 
 
 
Reporting Accountant 
Cooper Parry Group Limited 
 
Chartered Accountants 
Statutory Auditor 
Park View 
One Central Boulevard 
Blythe Valley Park 
Solihull 
West Midlands 
B90 8BG 
 
25th January 2021 
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The Skylark Partnership  
Statement of Financial Activities for the Year Ended 31 August 2020 
(including Income and Expenditure Account) 

 
 

 Note Un- 
restricted 

Funds 
£ 

Restricted 
General 

Funds 
£ 

Restricted 
Fixed 
Asset 

Funds 
£ 

Total  
2020  

£ 

Total 
 2019  

£ 

Income and endowments 
from:       

 
Donations and capital grants 
 

3 - - 169,188 169,188 4,546 

Transfer from Local Authority 
on conversion  3 168,747 (434,000) 2,121,000 1,855,747 604,308 

Charitable Activities:       
Funding for the Academy’s 
educational operations  4 - 2,673,589 - 2,673,589 707,619 

Other trading activity 5 550 - - 550 - 

Investment Income 6 633 - - 633 89 

       

Total incoming resources  169,930 2,239,589 2,290,188 4,699,707 1,316,562 

       
Expenditure on:       
Charitable activities:       
Academy’s educational 
operations 7, 8 - 2,737,920 80,462 2,818,382 667,021 

       
Total resources expended  - 2,737,920 80,462 2,818,382 667,021 
       
Net incoming/ (expenditure) 
before transfers  169,930 (498,331) 2,209,726 1,881,325 649,541 

Gross transfers between 
funds  - - - - - 

Net income/ (expenditure) 
for the year  169,930 (498,331) 2,209,726 1,881,325 649,541 

       
Other recognised gains and 
losses       

Actuarial losses on defined 
benefit pension schemes 24 - (74,000) - (74,000) (22,000) 

       

Net movement in funds  169,930 (572,331) 2,209,726 1,807,325 627,541 

       
Reconciliation of funds       
Funds brought forward at 1 
September 2019 16 247,227 (438,329) 818,643 627,541 - 

Funds carried forward at 31 
August 2020 16 417,157 (1,010,660) 3,028,369 2,434,866 627,541 

 
The notes on pages 36 to 52 form part of these financial statements.  
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The Skylark Partnership    
Balance Sheet as at 31 August 2020  
Company Number: 10992368  

 
 

 Notes 2020 2019 
  £ £ £ £ 

Fixed assets      
Tangible assets 13  2,860,781  814,339 
      
Current assets      
      
Debtors 14 300,449  267,921  
Cash at bank and in hand  692,832  448,317  
  993,281  716,238  
      
Liabilities      
Creditors: Amounts falling 
due within one year 15 (253,196)  (385,036)  

      
Net current assets   740,085  331,202 

      
Total assets less current 
liabilities   3,600,866  1,145,541 

      
Net assets excluding 
pension liability   3,600,866   

Defined benefit pension 
scheme liability 24  (1,166,000)  (518,000) 

      
Total net assets including 
pension liability   2,434,866  627,541 

      
      
Funds of the Academy:      
Restricted income funds      
Fixed asset fund 16  3,028,369  818,643 
Restricted Income fund 16  155,340  79,671 
Pension reserve 16  (1,166,000)  (518,000) 

Total restricted funds   2,017,709  380,314 
      
      
Unrestricted income funds 16  417,157  247,227 
      
      
Total funds   2,434,866  627,541 

 
 
 

The financial statements on pages 33 to 59 were approved by the Board of Trustees, and authorised for 
issue on 20th January 2021 and are signed on their behalf by: 
 
  
 
 

 
 
Frances Jones    
Chair of Trustees 
 
The notes on pages 36 to 52 form part of these financial statements.
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The Skylark Partnership   
Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 August 2020 

 
 Notes 2020  2019 

 £  £ 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
 

    

Net cash provided by operating activities 19 80,598  424,432 
     
Cash flows from investing activities 
 

21 163,917  (6,446) 

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting 
period 

  
244,515 

  
417,986 

 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 1 September 2019 

  
 

448,317 

  
 

30,331 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 31 August 2020 

 
23 

 
692,832 

  
448,317 

 
 

The notes on pages 36 to 52 form part of these financial statements.
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The Skylark Partnership  
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2020  

 
1. Statement of Accounting Policies 

 
A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except 
where noted), judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below. 

 
 Basis of Preparation 
 The financial statements of the Academy Trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been 

prepared under the historical cost convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: 
Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with 
FRS 102 (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020 issued by the 
Education and Skills Funding Agency, the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006.  

 
Going Concern 

 The Trustees assess whether the use of going concern is appropriate i.e. whether there are any material 
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the company 
to continue as a going concern. The Trustees make this assessment in respect of a period of one year 
from the date of approval of the Financial Statements and have concluded that the Academy Trust has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and there are no 
material uncertainties about the Academy Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern, thus they 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.  

 
 Income 
 All incoming resources are recognised when the Academy Trust has entitlement to the funds, the receipt 

is probable and the amount can be measured reliably. 
 

 Grants 
 Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance of 

income received for specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the relevant 
funds on the balance sheet. Where income is received in advance of meeting any performance-
related conditions there is not unconditional entitlement to the income and its recognition is deferred 
and included in creditors as deferred income until the performance-related conditions are met. Where 
entitlement occurs before income is received, the income is accrued. 

 
General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year for 
which it is receivable and any abatement in respect of the period is deducted from income and 
recognised as a liability.  
 
Capital grants are recognised in full when there is an unconditional entitlement to the grant. Capital 
grants are recognised when there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life of the asset on 
which they are expended. Unspent amounts of capital grant are reflected in the balance in the 
restricted fixed asset fund. 
 

 Donations 
Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance-related 
conditions) where the receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably measured. 

 
 Other Income 
 Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the period it is receivable and to the 

extent the Academy Trust has provided the goods or services. 
 

 Transfer on conversion  
Where assets are received by the Trust on conversion to an Academy, the transferred assets are 
measured at fair value and recognised in the balance sheet at the point when the risks and rewards 
of ownership pass to the Trust. An equal amount of income is recognised as Transfer on conversion 
within Donations and capital grant income.   
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The Skylark Partnership  
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2020 
(continued)  
1. Statement of Accounting Policies continued 

 
Expenditure 
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to a 
third party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount 
of the obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is classified by activity. The costs of each activity 
are made up of the total of direct costs and shared costs, including support costs involved in undertaking 
each activity. Direct costs attributable to a single activity are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs 
which contribute to more than one activity and support costs which are not attributable to a single activity 
are apportioned between those activities on a basis consistent with the use of resources. Central staff 
costs are allocated on the basis of time spent, and depreciation charges allocated on the portion of the 
asset’s use. 
 Charitable Activities 
 These are costs incurred on the Academy Trust’s educational operations, including support costs and 

costs relating to the governance of the Academy Trust apportioned to charitable activities. 
 
All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT. 

 
Tangible Fixed Assets 
Assets costing £1,000 or more are capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are carried at cost, net of 
depreciation and any provision for impairment. 
 
Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the government 
or from the private sector, they are included in the Balance Sheet at cost and depreciated over their 
expected useful economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached to the funding requiring the 
continued use of the asset, the related grants are credited to a restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement 
of Financial Activities and carried forward in the Balance Sheet. Depreciation on such assets is charged 
directly to the restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities. Where tangible fixed 
assets have been acquired with unrestricted funds, depreciation on such assets is charged to the 
unrestricted fund. 

 
 Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets, at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset 

on a straight-line basis over its expected useful lives, as follows: 
 

Leasehold Property   2% (50 years) 
Furniture and Equipment   10% (10 years) 
Computer equipment   33% (3 years) 

 
 A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying value of fixed 
assets and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. Impairment losses are recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Activities. 

 
Liabilities 
Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount of the 
settlement can be estimated reliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the academy trust 
anticipates it will pay to settle the debt or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the goods 
of services it must provide. 
 
Leased Assets 
Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight line basis over the lease term 
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The Skylark Partnership  
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2020 
(continued) 

 
1. Statement of Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
 Financial Instruments   

The Academy Trust only holds basic financial instruments as defined in FRS 102. The financial assets and 
financial liabilities of the Academy Trust and their measurement basis are as follows:  
 
Financial assets – trade and other debtors are basic financial instruments and are debt instruments 
measured at amortised cost as detailed in note 14. Prepayments are not financial instruments.  
 
Cash at bank – is classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at face value.  
 
Financial liabilities – trade creditors, accruals and other creditors are financial instruments, and are 
measured at amortised cost as detailed in notes 15. Taxation and social security are not included in the 
financial instruments disclosure definition. Deferred income is not deemed to be a financial liability, as the 
cash settlement has already taken place and there is an obligation to deliver services rather than cash or 
another financial instrument.  

 
Taxation 
The Academy Trust is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 
2010 and therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes.  
Accordingly, the Academy Trust is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains 
received within categories covered by chapter 3 part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 
of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied 
exclusively to charitable purposes. 
 
Pensions Benefits 
Retirement benefits to employees of the Academy trust are provided by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
(‘TPS’) and the Local Government Pension Scheme (‘LGPS’). These are defined benefit schemes.  

 
The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of pensions 
over employees’ working lives with the academy trust in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially 
level percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by the 
Government Actuary on the basis of quinquennial valuations using a prospective unit credit method. As 
stated in Note 24, the TPS is a multi-employer scheme and there is insufficient information available to 
use defined benefit accounting. The TPS is therefore treated as a defined contribution scheme for 
accounting purposes and the contributions recognised in the period to which they relate. 

 
The LGPS is a funded scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the academy trust in 
separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are 
measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the 
current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. The 
actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The 
amounts charged to operating surplus are the current service costs and the costs of scheme introductions, 
benefit changes, settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities 
and comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme 
assets, calculated by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the 
rate used to discount the benefit obligations.  The difference between the interest income on the scheme 
assets and the actual return on the scheme assets is recognised in other recognised gains and losses. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses. 
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The Skylark Partnership 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2020 
(continued) 

 
1. Statement of Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
 Fund Accounting 

Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the 
charitable objects of the Academy Trust at the discretion of the trustees. 

 
 Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed 

by the Education and Skills Funding Agency/Department for Education where the asset acquired or 
created is held for a specific purpose. 

 
 Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received with restrictions imposed by the 

funder/donor and include grants from the Education and Skills Funding Agency/Department for Education. 
 

Agency arrangements 
The Academy Trust acts as agent for a project called APIF. Payments received for the project and 
subsequent disbursements are excluded from the Statement of Financial Activities as the Academy Trust 
does not have control over the charitable application of the funds. The funds received and paid and 
balances held are disclosed in note 27. 
 

2. Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions: 
 
The Academy Trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting 
estimates and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
 
The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a 
number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The 
assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any 
changes in these assumptions, which are disclosed in note 24, will impact the carrying amount of the 
pension liability. Furthermore a roll forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial 
valuation performed at 31 March 2019 has been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at 
31 August 2020. Any differences between the figures derived from the roll forward approach and a full 
actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability.  
 
Tangible fixed assets are depreciated over their economic useful lives taking into account residual values 
where appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may 
vary depending on a number of factors. 
 
Critical areas of judgment: 
 
The classification of expenditure between restricted and unrestricted funds is considered a critical area 
of judgement as certain expenditure can be applied to both funds. Where this is the case and the amounts 
in question are considered material, the expenditure is apportioned to both funding streams on an 
appropriate basis. 
 
The Academy Trust obtains use of fixed assets as a lessee. The classification of such leases as operating 
or finance lease requires the Academy Trust to determine, based on an evaluation of the terms and 
conditions of the arrangements, whether it retains or acquires the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of these assets and accordingly whether the lease requires an asset and liability to be 
recognised in the Balance Sheet. 
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The Skylark Partnership 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2020 
(continued) 

 
3. Donations and Capital Grants   

   
Unrestricted 

Funds 

  
Restricted 

Funds 

  
Total 
2020 

  
Total 
2019 

  £  £  £  £ 
         
 Capital grants -  169,188  169,188  4,304 
 Other donations -  -  -  242 
 Transfer from Local Authority on 

conversion 168,747  1,687,000  1,855,747  604,308 

  168,747  1,856,188  2,024,935  608,854 
         
 Total 2019 247,138  361,716  608,854   

 
 

4. Funding for the Academy Trust’s Educational Operations  
   

Unrestricted 
Funds 

  
Restricted 

Funds 

  
Total 
2020 

  
Total 
2019 

  £  £  £  £ 
         
 DfE/ESFA revenue grant        
 General Annual Grant (GAG)  -  940,480  940,480  154,362 
 Start–up grants   25,000  25,000  - 
 Other DfE / ESFA Grants -  4,178  4,178  75,472 
  -  969,658  969,658  229,834 
         
 Other Government grants        
 Local Authority grants -  1,524,196  1,524,196  427,506 
  -  1,524,196  1,524,196  427,506 
 Other Income from the Academy 

Trust’s educational operations 
 

- 
  

179,735 
  

179,735 
  

50,279 
  -  2,673,589  2,673,589  707,619 
         
 Total 2019 -  707,619  707,619   
 
 
5. 

 
Other Trading Activities 

      

  Unrestricted   Total  Total 
  Funds   2020  2019 
  £   £  £ 
        
 Hire of facilities 550   550  - 
  550   550  - 
 
 
6. 

 
Investment Income 

 
 

Unrestricted 

   
 

Total 

  
 

Total 
  Funds   2020  2019 
  £   £  £ 
        
 Short term deposits 633   633  89 
  633   633  89 
        
 Total 2019 89   89   
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The Skylark Partnership 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2020 
(continued) 
 
7. Expenditure  

     

 
Staff 

Costs  
£ 

Premises 
£ 

Other 
Costs 

£ 

Total 
2020  

£ 

 
Total 
2019 

£ 
      
Academy's educational operations      
Direct costs 1,908,077 80,462 126,237 2,114,776 507,940 
Allocated support costs 449,682 55,516 198,408 703,606 159,081 
      

 2,357,759 135,978 324,645 2,818,382 667,021 
      
Total 2019 511,201 41,574 114,246 667,021  
      
 
Net income/(expenditure) for the period 
include: 
 

   2020 
£ 

2019 
 £ 

      
Operating lease rentals 
Depreciation    7,701 

80,462 
923 

22,670 
Fees payable to the auditor for      
• Audit    8,150 6,000 
• Other services    2,250 - 
      

 
  
8. Charitable Activities 

        
 

 
 

 
 Total 

2020 
 Total 

2019 
 

 
 

 
 £ 

 
 £ 

 
Direct costs – educational operations    2,114,776  507,940 
Support costs – educational operations    703,606       159,081 
Total direct and support costs      2,818,382        667,021 
        
     Total 

2020 
 Total 

2019 
Analysis of support costs        
Support staff costs     449,682  69,940 
Technology costs     23,241  20,272 
Premises costs     55,516  18,904 
Other support costs     94,384  13,739 
Legal Costs - conversion     8,709  13,748 
Governance costs     72,074        22,478 
Total Support Costs     703,606  159,081 
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The Skylark Partnership  
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2020 
(continued) 

 
9. Staff   

 
a. Staff costs 

 
2020 

£ 
2019 

£ 
 

Wages and salaries 
 

1,670,980 
 

377,519 
Social security costs 156,289 36,341 
Pension costs 506,024 91,604 
 2,333,293 505,464 

Agency staff costs 24,466 5,737 
 2,357,759 511,201 

   
 

b. Non statutory / non contractual staff severance payments  
 

There were no staff severance payments in the year. 
 

c. Staff numbers 
 
The average number of persons employed by the Academy Trust during the period was as follows: 
 

Average Headcount 
2020 

Number 
2019 

Number 
   
Teachers 32 13 
Administration and support 36 15 
Management 5 3 

 73 31 
 
 

Average FTE 
2020 

Number 
2019 

Number 
   
Teachers 27 11 
Administration and support 21 13 
Management 5 3 

 53 27 
 
 

d. Higher paid staff 
 
The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) exceeded 
£60,000 was:   

 

2020 
Number 

 

2019 
Number 

 
£60,001-£70,000 1 - 
£70,001-£80,000 1 - 

 
e. Key management personnel 
 
The Key Management Personnel of the Academy Trust comprise the Trustees and the Senior 
Management Team as listed on page 3. The total amount of employee benefits (including employer 
pension contributions and employer national insurance contributions) received by key management 
personnel for their services to the Academy Trust was £513,461 (2019: £96,185). 
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The Skylark Partnership  
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2020 
(continued) 

 
10. Central Services 

 
The Academy Trust has provided the following central services to its schools during the year: 
 
• Human resources 
• Financial services 
• Legal services 
• Educational support services 

The Academy Trust does not charge for these services.  
 
 
11. Related Party Transactions - Trustees' Remuneration & Expenses 

 
One or more Trustees has been paid remuneration or has received other benefits from an employment with 
the Academy Trust. The CEO only receives remuneration in respect of services they provide undertaking 
the roles of CEO under their contract of employment. The value of the trustees’ remuneration was as follows: 
 
Cath Kitchen, CEO and Trustee 
 

Remuneration    £30,000 - £35,000 (2019 : £30,000 - £35,000) 
Employer’s pension contributions  £15,000 - £20,000 (2019 : £5,000 - £10,000) 

  
During the year ended 31 August 2020, no travel and subsistence expenses were paid to trustees. 

 
 
12. Trustees' and Officers' Insurance 

 
The Academy Trust has opted into the Department for Education’s risk protection arrangement (RPA), an 
alternative to insurance where UK government funds cover losses that arise. This scheme protects 
trustees and officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on 
academy business, and provides cover up to £10,000,000. It is not possible to quantify the Trustees and 
Officers indemnity element from the overall cost of the RPA scheme.   
 

 
13.   Tangible Fixed Assets 
 

  Long-term 
Leasehold 

Property 

Furniture 
and 

Equipment 

 
Computer 

Equipment 

 
 

Total 
  £ £ £ £ 

Cost      
At 1 September 2019  652,500 86,339 98,170 837,009 
Additions  4,770 1,134 - 5,904 
Transfer from Local Authority (see note 28) 

  2,121,000 - - 2,121,000 

At 31 August 2020  2,778,270 87,473 98,170 2,963,913 
      
Depreciation      
At 1 September 2019  5,437 3,598 13,635 22,670 
Charged for the year  39,105 8,633 32,724 80,462 
      
At 31 August 2020  44,542 12,231 46,359 103,132 
      
Net book values      
At 31 August 2020  2,733,728 75,242 51,811 2,860,781 
At 31 August 2019  647,063 82,741 13,635 814,339 
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14. Debtors  

 

2020 
£ 
 

2019 
£ 
 

Trade debtors 60,662 - 
VAT Recoverable 27,465 16,457 
Other debtors - 4,326 
Prepayments and accrued income 212,322 247,138 
 300,449 267,921 

 
 
15. Creditors: Amounts Falling Due within one Year 

         
2020 

£ 
2019 

£ 
   
Trade Creditors 28,851 180,919 
Other taxation and social security 86,190 42,279 
Other creditors 103,755 109,574 
Accruals and deferred income 34,400 52,264 

 253,196 385,036 

        Deferred income 

 
2020 

£ 
 

2019 
£ 
 

As at 1 September 2019 25,000 75,329 
Release from previous years (25,000) (75,329) 
Resources deferred in year - 25,000 
Deferred income at 31 August 2020 - 25,000 

 
Deferred income at 31 August 2019 related to the conversion grant received from the ESFA for Cherry Tree 
Learning Centre. 
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16.     Funds 
  
 Balance at  

1 September 
2019 Income 

 
Expenditure 

Gains, 
Losses and 

Transfers 

Balance at 
31 August 

2020 
 £ £ £ £ £ 

Restricted general funds      
General Annual Grant (GAG) - 940,480 (785,140) - 155,340 
Other DFE / ESFA grants - 25,000 (25,000) -  - 
Pupil Premium - 4,178 (4,178) -  - 
Other Grants 79,671 1,703,931 (1,783,602) -  - 
Pension Reserve (518,000) (434,000) (140,000) (74,000) (1,166,000) 
 (438,329) 2,239,589 (2,737,920) (74,000) (1,010,660) 
      
Restricted fixed asset funds    

   
Transfer on conversion 805,004 2,121,000 (80,462) - 2,845,542 
DfE/ESFA capital grants 
Capital expenditure from GAG 

4,304 
9,335 

169,188 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

173,492 
9,335 

 818,643 2,290,188 (80,462) - 3,028,369 
      

Total restricted funds 380,314 4,529,777 (2,818,382) (74,000) 2,017,709 
      
Total unrestricted funds 247,227 169,930 - - 417,157 
      
Total funds 627,541 4,699,707 (2,818,382) (74,000) 2,434,866 

 

 
The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows: 
 
The General Annual Grant represents funding received form the Education and Skills Funding Agency during 
the period to fund the continuing activities of the school. Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of 
State, the Academy Trust was not subject to limits on the amount of that it could carry forward at 31 August 
2020. 
 
The balance of £155,340 on the Restricted general funds (excluding the pension reserve) will be used for 
educational purposes in accordance with the restrictions attached to the funding. 
 
Pupil Premium income is included within restricted funds and relates to the funding provided by the ESFA for 
the Academy Trust to provide additional support to pupils from low income families. 
 
The Pension reserve of £1,166,000 (overdrawn) represents the Academy Trust's share of the deficit in the 
East Midlands Pension Fund and the West Midlands Pension Fund. 
 
Restricted fixed asset funds relate predominately to the assets acquired on conversion to an Academy Trust, 
being the properties together with any subsequent funding received and utilised for fixed assets including 
improvements and new buildings. 
 
The unrestricted funds represent the accumulated surplus generated by the Academy Trust from conversion 
to an Academy trust and ongoing ancillary activities such as hire of facilities. 
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16.  Funds (continued) 
 

Comparative information in respect of the preceding period is as follows: 
 
 

Balance at  
1 September 

2018 Income 
 

Expenditure 

Gains, 
Losses 

and 
Transfers 

Balance at 
31 August 

2019 
 £ £ £ £ £ 

Restricted general funds      
General Annual Grant (GAG) - 154,362 (143,523) (10,839) - 
Pupil Premium - 234 (234) - - 
Other Grants - 553,265 (473,594) - 79,671 
Pension Reserve - (469,000) (27,000) (22,000) (518,000) 
 - 238,861 (644,351) (32,839) (438,329) 

Restricted fixed asset funds      
Transfer on conversion - 826,170 (21,166)) - 805,005 
DfE/ESFA capital grants - 4,304 - - 4,304 
Capital expenditure from GAG - - (1,504) 10,839 9,335 

 - 830,474 (22,670) 10,839 818,643 
      

Total restricted funds - 1,069,335 (667,021) (22,000) 380,314 
      

Total unrestricted funds - 247,227 - - 247,227 
      

Total funds - 1,316,562 (667,021) (22,000) 627,541 
 

Analysis of Academies by Fund balance 
Funds at 31 August 2020 were allocated as follows:  

 
All operating reserves are pooled centrally by the Trust. 
 
Total cost analysis by school 
Expenditure incurred by each school during the year was as follows: 

 
 Teaching 

and 
Educational 

support  
staff costs 

 
Other 

Support  
staff 

costs 

 
 
 

Educational 
supplies 

 
 
 

Other costs 
(exc. Dep) 

 
 
 

Total 
2020 

 
 
 

Total 
2019 

 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ 
 

Hospital and Outreach 1,008,486 235,048 28,938 223,422 1,495,894 644,351 
Cherry Tree Learning 
Centre 

 
899,591 

 
74,634 

 
7,747 

 
69,775 

 
1,051,747 

 
- 

Central Services  - 140,000 - 50,279 190,279 - 
Academy Trust 1,908,077 449,682 36,685 343,476 2,737,920 644,351 

  

 2020 2019 
 £ £ 

 
Central services 572,497 326,898 
Total before fixed assets and pension reserve 572,497 326,898 
Restricted fixed asset fund 3,028,369 818,643 
Pension reserve   (1,166,000) (518,000) 
Total 2,434,866 627,541 
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17. Analysis of Net Assets between Funds 

 
Fund balances at 31 August 2020 are represented by: 

 

Unrestricted 
Funds 

Restricted 
General 

Funds 

Restricted 
Fixed 
Asset 
Funds 

Total 
Funds 

 £ £ £ £ 
     
Tangible fixed assets - - 2,860,781 2,860,781 
Current assets 417,157 408,536 167,588 993,281 
Current liabilities - (253,196) - (253,196) 
Pension scheme liability - (1,166,000) - (1,166,000) 
Total net assets 417,157 (1,010,660) 3,028,369 2,434,866 

 
 
Comparative information in respect of the preceding period is as follows: 

 

Unrestricted 
Funds 

Restricted 
General 

Funds 

Restricted 
Fixed 
Asset 
Funds 

Total 
Funds 

 £ £ £ £ 
     
Tangible fixed assets - - 814,339 814,339 
Current assets 247,227 464,707 4,304 716,238 
Current liabilities - (385,036) - (385,036) 
Pension scheme liability - (518,000) - (518,000) 
Total net assets 247,227 (438,329) 818,643 627,541 

 
 
18. Commitments under operating leases 

 
At 31 August 2020 the total of the Academy Trust’s future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases was: 

 
 

 

2020 
£ 
 

2019 
£ 
 

Amounts due within one year 1,954 2,214 
Amounts due between one and five years 307 1,476 
Amounts due after five years - - 
 2,261 3,690 

  



 
 

48 
 

The Skylark Partnership  
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2020 
(continued) 
 
19. Reconciliation of Net Income to Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities 
 

 
2020 

£ 
2019 

£ 
 
Net income / (expenditure) for year (as per SoFA) 

 
1,881,325 

 
649,541 

 
Adjusted for:   

   
Depreciation charges (note 13) 80,462 22,670 
Capital grants from DfE and other capital income (169,188) (4,304) 
Interest receivable (note 6) (633) (89) 
Defined benefit pension scheme obligation inherited (note 28) 434,000 - 
Defined benefit pension scheme less contributions payable (note 24) 122,000 22,000 
Defined benefit pension scheme finance cost (note 24)  18,000 5,000 
Fixed assets transferred from Local Authority on conversion (2,121,000) (357,170) 
Increase in debtors (32,528) (171,558) 
Increase in creditors (131,840) 258,342 
   
Net cash provided by operating activities 80,598 424,432 

 
 
 
20.     Cash flows from financing activities

 

2020 
£ 
 

2019 
£ 
 

Cash inflows from new borrowing - - 
Net cash provided by financing activities - - 

 
 

21. Cash flows from investing activities 

 

2020 
£ 
 

2019 
£ 
 

Dividends, interest and rents from investments 633 89 
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (5,904) (10,839) 
Capital grants from DfE Group 169,188 4,304 
   
Net cash used in investing activities 163,917 (6,446) 

 
 

22.  Analysis of cash and cash equivalents 
   At 31 At 31 
   August August 
   2020 2019 
   £ £ 

 
Cash in hand and at bank   692,832 448,317 

     
Total cash and cash equivalents   692,832 448,317 
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23.    Analysis of changes in net debt 
 

 At 
1 September 

2019 
Cash 
flows 

 
New Borrowing 

At 
31 August 2020 

 £ £ £ £ 
 
Cash 448,317 244,515 - 692,832 
 
Total 448,317 244,515 - 692,832 

 
 
24.   Pension and Similar Obligations 
 

The Academy Trust’s employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers’ Pension 
Scheme England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) for non-teaching staff, which is managed by West Midlands Pension Fund and 
Northamptonshire Pension Fund. Both are defined-benefit schemes. 
 
The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was 31 March 2016 and of the LGPS 31 March 2019. 
 
Contributions amounting to £75,228 were payable to the schemes at 31 August 2020 (2019: £Nil) and  
are included within creditors.  
 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
 
The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by 
the Teachers’ Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. Membership is automatic for teachers in academies. 
All teachers have the option to opt-out of the TPS following enrolment. 

 
 The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members contribute on a “pay as you go” basis – these 

contributions along with those made by employers are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and other 
pension benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parliament. 
 
Valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
 
The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS 
in accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014 
published by HM Treasury every 4 years. The aim of the review is to specify the level of future contributions. 
Actuarial scheme valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs, design of 
benefits and many other factors. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 
2016. The valuation report was published by the Department for Education on 5 March 2019. The key 
elements of the valuation and subsequent consultation are:  
 

• employer contribution rates set at 23.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% administration 
levy)  

• total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for 
service to the effective date of £218,100 million and notional assets (estimated future contributions 
together with the notional investments held at the valuation date) of £196,100 million, giving a 
notional past service deficit of £22,000 million  

• the SCAPE rate, set by HMT, is used to determine the notional investment return. The current 
SCAPE rate is 2.4% above the rate of CPI. assumed real rate of return is 2.4% in excess of prices 
and 2% in excess of earnings. The rate of real earnings growth is assumed to be 2.2%. The 
assumed nominal rate of return including earnings growth is 4.45%.  

 
The next valuation result is due to be implemented from 1 April 2023. 
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24.  Pension and Similar Obligations (continued) 

 
The employer’s pension costs paid to TPS in the period amounted to £271,420 (2019 £34,893). 
 
A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers’ Pensions website. 

 
Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is an unfunded multi-employer pension scheme. The 
trust has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The 
trust has set out above the information available on the scheme. 
 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
 
The LGPS is a funded defined-benefit scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-administered 
funds.  
 
The total contribution made for the year ended 31 August 2020 was £117,000 (2019: £37,000), of which 
employer’s contributions totalled £94,000 (2019: £30,000) and employees’ contributions totalled 
£23,000 (2019: £7,000).  The agreed contribution rates for future years are 17.70% for employers and 
between 5.5-5.80% for employees. 
 
Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in 
the event of academy closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met 
by the Department for Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013. 
 
 
Principal actuarial assumptions At 31 August 

2020 
At 31 August 

2019 
 

Rate of increase in salaries 2.7% - 3.3% 2.6% 
Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.2% - 2.3% 2.3% 
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 1.6% - 1.7% 1.9% 
   

 
The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates. 
The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are: 

 
At 31 August 

2020 
At 31 August 

2019 
Retiring today   
+Males 21.5 - 21.9 21.2 
Females 23.7 - 24.1 23.3 
   
Retiring in 20 years   
Males 22.3 - 23.8 22.3 
Females 25.1 - 26.0 24.7 
   

 
Sensitivity Analysis 
(change in value of defined benefit obligations) 

At 31 August 
2020 

At 31 August 
2019 

 
£’000 £’000 

 
Discount Rate +0.1% 284 107 
Discount Rate -0.1% (285) (107) 
CPI rate +0.1% 130 87 
CPI rate -0.1% (129) (87) 
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24. Pension and Similar Obligations (continued) 

 
The Academy’s share of the assets in the scheme were: 

 
  

 

Fair value 
at  

31 August 
2020     

Fair value 
at  

31 August 
2019 

  
 

£’000 
 

£’000 
 

Equities   531 217 
Corporate Bonds and gilts   131 51 
Property   82 27 
Cash and other liquid assets   43 6 
Other   69 - 
Total market value of assets   856 301 

 

 
The actual return on scheme assets was 4.5% - 5.0% (2019: 5.5%). 

 
Amounts recognised in the statement of financial activities 

 

 

2020    
£’000 

2019    
£’000 

 
Current service cost 188 49 
Past service cost 28 3 
Net Interest cost 18 5 
Total amount recognised in SOFA 234 57 
   

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows: 
 

 

2020    
£’000 

2019    
£’000 

 
As at 1 September 819 - 
Transferred in on Conversion and from Academy Trust 834 718 
Current service cost 188 49 
Interest cost 30 8 
Employee contributions 23 7 
Change in demographic assumptions - (47) 
Change in financial assumptions 100 81 
Past service cost 28 3 

At 31 August 2020 2,022 819 
 

Changes in the fair value of academy’s share of scheme assets: 

 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

 
As at 1 September 2019 301 - 
Conversion of academy trust 400 249 
Interest income 12 3 
Return on plan assets 26 12 
Employee contributions 23 7 
Employer contributions 94 30 
At 31 August 2020 856 301 
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25. Related Party Transactions 

 
No related party transactions took place in the period of account, other than certain Trustees’ remuneration 
and expenses already disclosed in note 11. 
 
 

26. Members Liability 
 

Each Member of the Academy Trust undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Trust in the event of it 
being wound up while he/she is a Member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a Member, such 
amount as may be required, not exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted before he/she ceases 
to be a Member. 
 
 

27.  Agency Arrangements 
 

The Academy Trust has been the agent for a project called APIF. In the accounting period ending 31 August 
2020, the Trust received £132,781 (2019: £Nil) and disbursed £104,691 (2019: £Nil) from the fund. An 
amount of £28,090 (2019: £Nil) is included in Other Creditors relating to the undistributed funds that are 
repayable to the DfE. 
 
 

28.   Local Authority Conversion into the Academy Trust 
 

On 1 December 2019, Cherry Tree Learning Centre joined the Trust from Dudley Local Authority. 
 
The transfer has been accounted for as a combination that is in substance a gift. The assets and liabilities 
transferred were valued at their fair value and recognised in the balance sheet under the appropriate 
headings with a corresponding net amount recognised as a net gain in the Statement of Financial Activities. 
 
The following table sets out the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities transferred and an 
analysis of their recognition in the SOFA  

Unrestricted 
Funds 

Restricted 
General 

Funds 

Restricted 
Fixed 
Asset 

Funds Total  
£ £ £ £  

Tangible fixed assets 
    

 Leasehold land and buildings 
 

- - 2,121,000 
 

2,121,000 
      

Budget surplus 97,264 - - 97,264      

LGPS pension surplus / (deficit) - (434,000) - (434,000) 
     
Net assets / (liabilities)         97,264      (434,000) 2,121,000 21,784,264 
 
£71,483 of additional income was received from Northamptonshire County Council during the year relating 
to conversion balances for Hospital and Outreach which converted to academy status on 1 April 2019. 


	The Trust’s vision is to create a family of exceptional nurturing environments for children and young people with medical and emotional needs, where each is unique and distinctive, whilst sharing the same values and ethos, preparing them for their nex...
	This vision is what we aspire for and is as relatable to every employee and partner of our Trust as it is to our children, young adults and their families.
	The Skylark Partnership seeks to uphold the values and virtues of ethical education by ‘doing the right thing’ through honesty, integrity and transparency. We try to use the ethical leadership framework in everything we do.
	The Trust’s underlying principles

